Chemoprevention of breast cancer: current status and future prospects

Xinhan Zhao, Linlin Li, and Zhiyu Wang

Oncology Department of the 1st Hospital affiliated to Xi'an Jiaotong University, No.1 Jiankang Rd. Xi'an China 710061

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Search strategy and selection criteria
- 4. Drugs used for chemoprevention of breast cancer
 - 4.1. SERMs
 - 4.1.1. Mechanism
 - 4.1.2. Clinical Trials
 - 4.2. Aromatase Inhibitors
 - 4.2.1. Mechanism & effects
 - 4.2.2. Comparison between SERMs and AIs
 - 4.3. Other drugs
 - 4.3.1. Coenzyme Q10
 - 4.3.2. Retinoids
 - 4.3.3. COX-2 Inhibitors
 - 4.3.4. Vitamin E
 - 4.3.5. Soy Isoflavones
 - 4.3.6. Tea polyphenols
 - 4.3.7. Statins
- 5. Discussion
- 6. Acknowledgement
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Chemoprevention plays an important role in the prevention of cancer. Due to being an estrogen-dependent cancer, breast carcinomas are ideal candidate for chemoprevention. The two main approaches to chemoprevention of breast cancer are to attain a balance in estrogen or to eliminate all estrogens by selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) and aromatase inhibitors (AIs). A series of clinical trials have proven tamoxifene quite useful as a preventive strategy for women at high risk of breast cancer. The third-generation, AIs, hold a great promise in chemoprevention of breast cancer. In this review, the mechanisms, side effects and main clinical trials of SERMs and AIs are discussed. The use of other drugs including CoQ₁₀ retinoids, cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 inhibitors, vitamin E, soy isoflavones, tea polyphenols and statins in chemoprevention is introduced. Since most studies on these drugs were conducted on animal models or cell culture, further studies are needed to determine the efficacy of these drugs in chemoprevention of human cancers.

2. INTRODUCTION

To some extent, prevention of disease is more important than any kind of treatment, for it results in the most benefit with least cost. When it comes to cancer, prevention becomes even more important because it is hard to control the progression of cancer. The best way to solve this problem is to arrest or prevent carcinogenesis. In the United States, breast cancer threatens women's health with the highest incidence and the second highest mortality rate of all cancers (1). This situation calls for an effective way to reduce both the incidence and the mortality rates of the disease.

The term, "chemoprevention" was first introduced by Michael Sporn in 1976(2, 3) to describe the application of drugs to slow or reverse the process of carcinogenesis. However, physicians began to do research on chemoprevention of breast cancer about 100 years ago. Since George Beatson discovered the link between the ovarian activity and growth of the breast cancer in 1896(4), a series of discoveries have been made suggesting that the

occurrence of breast cancer is correlated with estrogens, chemicals produced by the ovaries. In 1936, Antoine Lacassagne suggested that a therapeutic antagonist to estrogen should be developed to block estrogen-induced breast cancer (5). In 1962, Jensen and Jacobsen synthesized radioactive estradiol (6) and proposed the presence of the estrogen receptor (ER) as the link between circulating estrogens and their effects in target tissues, which was identified later (7). The presence of ER was subsequently proven to predict the likelihood that of breast cancer will respond to hormonal manipulation (8). This revealed that breast cancer has an advantage over other solid tumors in that the strategy of chemoprevention is practical. After a number of experiments done in the laboratory, the strategy that estrogen antagonists could be used in chemoprevention for breast cancer in animals was conceived and proven effective, which led to clinical testing.

Tamoxifene, a SERM, was the first drug used in chemoprevention for breast cancer after several random clinical trials. In 1998, results of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project (NSABP) P-1 Breast Cancer Prevention Trial (BCPT) showed Tamoxifene achieved a statistically significant 49% reduction in the incidence of invasive breast disease in women at increased breast cancer risk (9). Based on the results of clinical trials. the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved tamoxifene for risk reduction in women at high risk of breast cancer in October 1998, marking the historic first FDA approval of any agent for primary cancer prevention. Since then new agents have been emerging, such as AIs, retinoids and so on. In this paper, we mainly emphasize on the recent results of clinical trials about SERMs and AIs as well as the development of new agents.

3. SEARCH STRATEGY AND SELECTION CRITERIA

Data for this review were identified by searches of PubMed, the Internet, and references from relevant articles. Abstracts were included only when the relevant information had not been published in full elsewhere. Only papers published in English were included.

4. DRUGS USED FOR CHEMOPREVENTION OF BREAST CANCER

4.1. SERMs

4.1.1.Mechanism

Selective estrogen receptor modulators, or SERMs, including tamoxifene, reloxifene, toremifene, droloxifene and other related non-steroidal agents, can have ER-agonistic, partial-agonistic, or -antagonistic effect, depending on the species, tissue and specific ER-regulated gene (10). SERMs competitively inhibit the binding of estrogen to ERs through a ligand-receptor protein complex which can interact with an estrogen-response element directly on DNA, or they form a transcription complex through a protein-protein interaction in the promoter region of target genes (11, 12). In this way SERMs can modulate estrogen-regulated genes that influence the growth and apoptosis of breast cells (11). The tissue-selective effects of

the various SERMs depend on the conformation of the ligand-receptor complex and the interaction with other transcription factors through activating functions on the ER complex (13).

Tamoxifene, the trans-isomer of a triphenylethylene derivative, was first used in breast cancer treatment. Animal studies with it showed that tamoxifene prevented breast carcinogenesis (14-16) in rats, and inhibited spontaneous breast carcinogenesis in high-incidence strains of mice (17). These studies resulted in use of tamoxifene in chemoprevention. Another well-studied SERM is raloxifene. Both tamoxifene and raloxifene are reinventions of old medicines. Generally speaking, SERMs' approach to chemoprevention of breast cancer is to strike a balance for the patient.

4.1.2. Clinical Trials

Several clinical trials of SERMs have been conducted. The purpose of BCPT conducted by the NSABP, and one of the most influential trials, was to test tamoxifene versus placebo in women at high risk for breast cancer. The result of BCPT is encouraging a 49% reduction in the incidence of invasive breast cancer among subjects receiving tamoxifenee, compared with subjects receiving placebo (89 vs 175, p < 0.00001), and a 50% reduction in noninvasive breast cancer incidence (69 and 5 cases occurring in the placebo and tamoxifene groups, respectively p < 0.002) (18). These results prompted the FDA to recommend tamoxifenee as a chemoprevention drug. The overall protective effect of tamoxifene was due to the reduction in ER-positive tumors. However, side effects with tamoxifene were also found, including endometrial cancer, stroke, transient ischemic attack, pulmonary embolism, deep vein thrombosis and cataracts. Two smaller European (British and Italian) breast cancer prevention trials using tamoxifene did not detect a statistically significant difference between tamoxifene and placebo (19, 20). Considering the much smaller sample sizes of these two trials, the results should be evaluated cautiously. Women with ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) who were also at high risk for ipsilateral and contralateral breast cancer (21, 22) were not included in the above trials. So the NSABP conducted another trial B-24 to test tamoxifene as adjuvant therapy after resection/lumpectomy and radiation in patients with DCIS (23). In this trial, tamoxifene reduced the incidence of all breast cancers, especially invasive ipsilateral cancers. However, the recently completed trial by the UK Coordinating Committee on Cancer Research (UKCCCR) Ductal Carcinoma In situ Working Party put forward some diverse opinions. In the UKCCCR, tamoxifene was not found to reduce the incidence of ipsilateral invasive disease in patients with completely excised DCIS but did reduce the recurrence of overall DCIS compared with radiotherapy (24).

Raloxifene, another SERM, may also be useful for the prevention of breast cancer. The NSABP is presently conducting a cancer prevention trial: the study of tamoxifene and raloxifene (STAR, or P-2). Mutilple Outcomes of Raloxifene Evaluation (MORE) that used

raloxifene for breast cancer risk reduction, provided the main rationale supporting raloxifene in STAR (25). There was a 76% reduction of invasive tumors (90% in ERpositive tumors) in MORE versus the 49% reduction when tamoxifene was used (69% in ER-positive tumors). Moreover, using raloxifene could decrease the incidence of endometrial cancer as well as bone fractures in women with osteoporosis. It is suggested that maybe raloxifene is the better drug for chemoprevention of breast cancer. But to confirm this, further information should be collected in the continuing STAR. According to the research data available now, tamoxifene is still the gold standard drug for chemoprevention of breast cancer.

4.2. Aromatase Inhibitors

4.2.1. Mechanism & effects

AIs are mainly used in the treatment of breast cancer, especially for women whose ovarian function has ceased. AIs inhibit aromatase, a cytochrome P450 enzyme that catalyses the conversion of androgens to estrogens in body fat, liver, breast and muscle cells (26,27), and in the breast tumor tissue (28,29) the last step of the estrogen biosynthetic pathway- by stopping the synthesis of estrogen. In this way AIs can reduce synthesis and output of estrogen in postmenopausal women.

The first two generations of AIs are not for clinical use because of serious side effects, such as rash, drowsiness and minera/ocorticoid suppression (30, 31). The third generation nonsteroidal AIs were recently approved by the FDA for use as first-line agents against estrogenresponsive cancer (32), including anastrozole, letrozole, and exemestane (33). Anastrozole has improven the efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of breast cancer as well as lowering the incidence of contralateral breast cancer compared with tamoxifene (34, 35), suggesting its potential role in chemoprevention. This prompted the International Breast Cancer Intervention Study (IBIS) to start a doubleblind, randomized, controlled trial (IBIS-II) to test whether anastrozole would prevent more new breast cancers in women at high risk of breast cancer compared with tamoxifene. The new report of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifene, Alone or in Combination) trial showed that anastrozole-treated women have better disease-free survival, greater time to recurrence and fewer side effects compared with tamoxifene. It was estimated that anastrozole treatment might prevent 70%-80% of ERpositive tumors in women at high risk of breast cancer (36). The main side effects are metabolic disorders of bones and lipids. As the latest third-generation AI approved by FDA, exemestane is an irreversible AI, producing 98% aromatase suppression (37). Exemestane also showed potential application in chemoprovention with the advantage of having less effect on bone metabolism (38). This leads to the National Cancer Institute of Canada's Clinical Trials Group MAP.3 trial, which evaluates exemestane with or without celecoxib as a preventive therapy (39).

4.2.2. Comparison between SERMs and Ais

It is a controversial decision whether to eliminate all estrogen or to strike a balance for patients, which means making a choice between AIs and SERMs. According to the research, AIs show advantage in providing more optimal prevention of ER positive breast cancer and less risk of endometrial cancer and blood clots compared with tamoxifene (38, 40, 41). However, the application of AIs in healthy women will affect other estrogen-dependent systems. Thus AIs may accelerate osteoporosis and dementia. SERMs have been involved in a number of clinical trials and tamoxifene, the most investigated chemopreventive drug is still the gold standard in chemoprevention. More large scale clinical trials need to be done in order to erase any doubts about the benefits of AIs. But there is a trend that more physicians prefer AIs based on the favorable outcomes of ongoing clinical trials. Both SERMs and AIs focus on postmenopausal women, while most of the breast cancer that occurs in the 50- to 65- year age group has its genesis in the premenopausal years. That means in the future we need to advance chemoprevention beyond the manipulation of hormones. We need to find ways to prevent carcinogenesis by treating women of reproductive ages.

4.3. Other drugs 4.3.1. Coenzyme Q₁₀

There are several other approaches to prevent breast carcinogenesis. One of these is to use other drugs combined with tamoxifene to improve its efficacy and minimize side effects. It has been proven that adding coenzyme Q₁₀ (CoQ₁₀) can achieve this aim in animal experiments (42). Many cancers are accompanied by poor antioxidant defenses. CoQ₁₀ is the first antioxidant to disappear from membranes under oxidant stress, and to promote the regeneration of vitamins E and C. Supplementation with CoQ₁₀ protects tissue from lipid peroxidation (43, 44), which is related to cell proliferation (45). Higher rates of lipid peroxidation in the cells may cause lower rates of cell division. Researchers observed that tumor cells were more resistant to lipid peroxidation than normal cells (46). Some studies also suggested that CoQ₁₀ stimulated the immune system and increased resistance to disease (47). Thus, the combination of tamoxifene and CoQ₁₀ would counteract the oxidizing injury by reducing cell proliferation to an appreciable extent and minimizing side effects.

4.3.2. Retinoids

Retinoids, the natural and synthetic derivatives of vitamin A, play a crucial role in cellular and tissue differentiation. Retinoids can suppress tumor promotion and activate and/or repress specific genes to modify some properties of transformed malignant cells. As the most widely studied retinoid, the synthetic amide of retinoic acid fenretinide (4-HPR) is selectively accumulated in the human breast (48). It appears attractive to evaluate this agent in the chemoprevention of breast cancer. A multicentric phase III randomized trial, conducted by the Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori in Milan, began in 1987 and completed in 1993, involved stage I breast cancer patients, aged 33-70 years, who had been operated on for breast cancer within the previous 10 years and had received no systemic adjuvant therapy. Fenretinide was tested for its efficacy as a secondary line of prevention of breast cancer. The result showed fenretinide had a beneficial trend in premenopausal women on both contralateral and ipsilateral breast cancer and a reversed trend on contralateral breast cancer in post-menopausal women (49). These findings suggest that fenretinide acts as a preventive agent at early stages of the breast carcinogenic process, but is useless when the cancer has progresses to a more malignant phenotype, probably because of the loss of retinoid receptor expression (50). The main side effect is nyctalopia. Further studies are needed to confirm above results.

A clinical trial using the combination of fenretinide and tamoxifene had been coordinated by the European Institute of Oncology. Pre-menopausal women with a history of intraepithelial neoplasia or minimally invasive breast cancer or healthy subjects at risk were eligible. This trial was finished in Nov. 2003 with high compliance and a few serious adverse events. The results show the combination of agents is more effective for ER positive cancer (49).

4.3.3. COX-2 Inhibitors

Cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 and COX-2 are inducible enzymes synthesizing prostaglandin. It was found that there was generally no COX-2 expressed in normal breast tissues. The expression of COX-2 was limited and weak in benign breast disease while diffused and strong in breast cancer (50, 51). The increasing activity of COX-2 might result in the progression of breast cancer in the following ways: producing estrogen through aromatase activity, proliferation, protease activity, angiogenesis and resistance to apoptosis (52, 53, 54). It has been proven that chronic use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), which block both COX-1 and COX-2 can reduce the incidence of ER positive breast cancer because of their ability to inhibit the activity of aromatase (55, 56). The side effects of NSAIDS are too many to be neglected, such as gastrointestinal (GI) ulcer, GI bleeding, perforation and obstruction. A more selective drug with fewer side effects is called for.

Experiments done on the pre-clinical stage showed that celecoxib, a COX-2 seclective inhibitor-reduced the incidence of carcinogen-induced ER-positive breast cancer in rats, and ER-negative in HER-2 over-expressing mice with fewer complications compared with NSAIDs (57,58). Several clinical trials using celecoxib as chemoprevention a drug for breast cancer are underway. As rofecoxib, another COX-2 selective inhibitor was withdrawn the market for contributing to increases in cardiovascular disease, the safety of COX-2 selective inhibitors is under discussion (59). The 8 main trials using celecoxib have shown no significant inclination to induce cardiovascular disease up to this point (60, 61).

4.3.4. Vitamin E

Vitamin E is a fat-soluble vitamin that can protect against the adverse effects of free radicals (62). It is postulated that vitamin E inhibits cancer formation through the following mechanisms: quenching of free radicals; direct effects on tumor cells, such as inducing differentiation, inhibiting cell cycle or inducing apoptosis; or increasing the efficacy of the immune system (63).

Research has suggested that vitamin E from dietary sources might provide women with modest protection from breast cancer: however, studies showed that vitamin E supplements provided no protection against breast cancer (64). The protective effects provided by Vitamin E in the diet look promising, but these studies failed to clarify the form of vitamin E used. In fact vitamin E is a general term referring to a group of eight different natural compounds and synthetic vitamin E, including RRR-alpha-, RRR-beta-, RRR-gamma-, and RRR-delta-tocopherols, alpha-, delta-, and gamma-tocotrienols, RRR-alpha-tocopheryl acetate, and RRR-alpha-tocopheryl succinate (65). A comparison of the apoptosis-inducing properties of various vitamin E compounds revealed that alpha-, delta-, and gammatocotrienols and the succinate derivative of RRR-alphatocopherol were the most potent inducers of apoptosis of human breast cancer cells in culture (66). Among these forms, RRR-alpha-tocopherul succinate shows the best antitumor effects in vitro (63, 66) and had chemotherapeutic efficacy in several animal models of cancers including breast cancer (67-69). We know the exact type of Vitamin E that has been shown to have a protective effect at the experimental stage, and this type of Vitamin E is commercially available, so this holds promise for future clinical trials. More specific studies are needed to confirm the efficacy of vitamin E on chemoprevention of breast

4.3.5. Soy Isoflavones

Soy is rich in isoflavones, which have been suggested to lower the risk for certain diseases: breast and prostate cancers, osteoporosis and coronary heart disease (70,71). Isoflavones contain a phenyl side-chain, with a variable number of hydroxyl or other groups. This structure is similar to estradiol as well as other steroid hormones and steroid hormone antagonists (72). It has been proven that in vivo isoflavones could lengthen the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle (73), reduce urinary excretion of 17betaestradiol, and favor 2-hydroxyestrone formation (74), all of which were associated with a reduced risk for breast cancer. Therefore, isoflavones have been called "natural SERMs". The exact mechanism is still unknown. Other studies in vitro found isoflavones act as antioxidants (75), arrest the cell cycle and inhibit topoisomorase II (76), and exert antiproliferative activities (77,78). Isoflavones include daidzein (4', 7-dihydroxyisoflavone), genistein (4', 5, 7-trihydroxyisoflavone) and glycitein (4', 7-dihydrooxy-6-methoxyisoflavone) (79). Most research is concentrated on daidzein and genistein. The experiments done by Hiroyuki confirmed that genistein produced dose- and time-dependent in vitro growth inhibition in breast cancer cell lines (DD-762, Sm-MT, MCF-7, MDA-MB-231) and one breast epithelial cell line (HBL-100) (80). Since evident from clinical trials remains absent, the effect of soy isoflavones on prevention of breast cancer needs evaluated in the future.

4.3.6. Tea polyphenols

Tea has been used as a daily beverage and crude medicine in China for thousands of years. There are three classes of teas: green, black and oolong depending on the degree of fermentation involved. Green tea is thought to exert an inhibitory effect against carcinogenesis and tumor growth because of its effective components, polyphenols (81). A study also suggested that green tea polyphenols inhibited HER2/neu signaling proliferation, and the transformed phenotype of breast cancer cells (82). Other studies showed that black tea had the same effect as green tea in cancer chemoprevention (83,84). In addition, black tea polyphenols have been proven to act as a HER2/neu tyrosine kinase inhibitor, and attenuate tamoxifene-resistant breast tumors in estrogen-independent breast cancer cells (85). More research is needed to support tea polyphenols as a chemopreventive agent of breast cancer.

4.3.7. Statins

As a cholesterol-lowering drug, statins are capable of reducing mortality from cardiovascular disease, which is the number one cause of death in the major cancer chemoprevention trials, and the number one cause of death of women following a diagnosis of breast cancer (86). Recently, the potential relationship between certain cancers and dyslidemia has come under investigation. Statins are being considered for use in chemoprevention trials.

5. DISCUSSION

As an estrogen-dependent cancer, breast cancer has an advantage in the prevention stage. The results of the clinical trials referred to here, particularly that of the NSAPB P-1 trial, strongly support the principle of chemoprevention. After decades of clinical trials, tamoxifene is recognized as the gold standard in chemoprevention of breast cancer. These positive outcomes have brought chemoprevention to the forefront of efforts to control breast cancer. However, the substantial risks of chemoprevention cannot be ignored. The development of new SERMs is required. We need a novel SERM with greater effectiveness as well as fewer side effects, which can compete with the third generation of AIs. Can AIs take the place of SERMs? Though there is a trend that AIs are the better choice, SERMs and AIs are two divergent approaches. We can hardly say which has more advantages, for AIs' approach of "no estrogen at all" also brings many problems. SERMs used now were originally developed for the regulation of the sexual cycle, or are newer versions of drugs which failed in earlier attempts to treat breast cancer. For these reasons, a new SERM is needed. Key issue in the development of SERMs is to develop mechanisms to increase the target-site specificity of the compounds. We need to distinguish signal transduction through ER-alpha and ER-beta respectively and this requires a comprehensive model of pharmacological consequences. More specifically targeted SERMs will be more beneficial and will have fewer potential risks for perimenopausal women.

There are several other drugs used in this field, including CoQ_{10} , retinoids, COX-2 inhibitors, vitamin E, soy isoflavones, tea polyphenols and statins. Some of these drugs can be combined with SERMs because they use different mechanisms. Whether the combination improves the preventive effect still needs evaluation. There is something we should pay attention to. The two main drugs used in chemoprevention focus on post-menopausal

women. But trials with retinoids suggested that they may be more effective in treating pre-menopausal women. Moreover tea polyphenols show promise in preventing estrogen-independent breast cancers. Further studies of these drugs may fill the gap that remains in SERMs and AIs.

To prevent breast cancer, there are other options we can take into consideration, including a diet low in both carbohydrate and fat, and physical exercise. However, it is difficult to confirm their exact effect on prevention through scientific study. Moreover, preventative ovariancetomy or mastectomy, and recent gene therapy are also choices for preventing breast cancer. The problem we face today is in choosing the therapy most appropriate for the patients. The main risk factors of breast cancer are family history/genetic, reproductive/ hormonal, proliferative benign breast pathology and mamographic density. A complicated and practical model of risk assessment is required to make the right decision for patients. Preventative therapies may be combined to gain the most efficacy.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Our sincere thanks to Professor Changping Zou, at Department Gynecologic Oncology, University of Arizona, Professor Yongquan Bai, Patricia Isaacs, Xi'an Jiaotong at University School of Foreign Languages, and Professor Tianbao Song, Fengling Peng, Medical college of Xi'an Jiaotong University for their careful review of this manuscript.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. A Jemal, Tiwari RC, Murray T: Cancer Statistics.*CA Cancer J Clin* 54, 8-29 (2004)
- 2. M Sporn, Dunlop N, and Newton D: Prevention of chemical carcinogenesis by vitamin A and its Synthetic analogs (retinoids). *Fed Proc* 35, 1332-1338 (1976)
- 3. M Sporn: Approaches to prevention of epithelial cancer during the preneoplastic period. *Cancer Res* 36, 2699-2702 (1976)
- 4. G Beatson: On the treatment of inoperable cases of carcinoma of the mamma: Suggestions for a new method of treatment with illustrative cases. *Lancet* 2, 104-107 (1896)
- 5. A Lacassagen: Hormonal pathogenesis of adenocarcinoma of the breast. *Am J Cancer* 27, 217-225 (1936)
- 6. E Jensen, Jacobson H: Basic guides to the mechanism of estrogen action. *Recent Prog Horm Res* 18, 387-414 (1962)
- 7. E Jensen , Suzuki T, Kawashima T, Stumpf W, Jungblut P, Desombre E: A two-step mechanism for the interaction of
- estradiol with rat uterus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 59,632-638 (1968)
- 8. W McGuire, Carbone P, Volmer E: Estrogen Receptors In Human Breast Cancer. *Raven Press*, New York (1975)
- 9. V Jordan, Morrow M: Tamoxifene, raloxifene, and the prevention of breast cancer. *Endocr Rev* 202, 53-278 (1999)

- 10. K Dhingra: Antiestrogens-tamoxifene, SERMs and beyond. *Invest New Drugs* 17,285-311 (1999)
- 11. S Papps, Jordan V: Raloxifene for the treatment and prevention of breast cancer? *Expert Rev Anticancer Therapy* 1, 334-340 (2001)
- 12. A Wijayaratne, Nagel S, Paige L, Christensen D, Norris J, Fowlkes D, McDonnell D: Comparative analyses of mechanistic differences among antiestrogens. *Endocrinology* 140, 5828-5840 (1999)
- 13. S Lippman, Brown P: Tamoxifene prevention of breast cancer: an instance of the fingerpost. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 91, 1809-1819 (1999)
- 14. C Osbome: Tamoxifene in the treatment of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 339, 1609-1618 (1998)
- 15. V Jordan, Allen K: Evaluation of the antitumour activity of the non-steroidal antioestrogen monohydroxytamoxifene in the DMBA-induced rat mammart carcinoma model. *Eur J Cancer* 16,239-251 (1980)
- 16. M Gottardis, Jordan V: The antitumor actions of keoxifene (raloxifene) and tamoxifene in the N-nitrosomethylurea-induced rat mammary carcinoma model. *Cancer Res* 47, 4020-4024 (1987)
- 17. V Jordan, Lababidi M, Langan-Fashey S: Suppression of mouse mammary tumorigenesis by long-term tamoxifene therapy. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 83, 492-496 (1991) 18. B Fisher, Costantino J, Wickerham D, Redmond C, Kavanah M, Cronin W: Tamoxifene for prevention of breast cancer: repot of the national surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project P-1 study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 90, 1371-1388 (1998)
- 19. T Powles, Eeles R, Ashley S, Easton D, Chang J, Dowsett M: Interim analysis of the incidence of breast cancer in the Royal Marsden Hospital tamoxifene randomized chemoprevention trial. *Lancet* 352, 98-101 (1998)
- 20. U Veronesi, Maisonneuve P, Costa A, Sacchini V, Maltoni C, Rovertson C: Prevention of breast cancer with tamoxifene: preliminary findings from the Italian randomized trial among hysterectomised women. *Lancet* 352, 93-97 (1998)
- 21. D Page, Simpson J: Ductal carcinoma *in situ---*The focus for prevention, screening, and breast conservation in breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 340, 1499-1500 (1999)
- 22. E Fisher, Fisher B: Relation of a recurrent intraductal carcinoma (ductal carcinoma *in situ*) to the primary tumor. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 92, 288-289 (2000)
- 23. B Fisher, Dignam J, Wolmark N, Wicerham DL, Fisher ER, Mamounas E: Tamoxifene in treatment of intraductal breast cancer: nationl surgical adjuvant breast and bowel project B-24 randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 353, 1993-2000 (1999)
- 24. J Houghton, George W, Cuzick J, Duggan C, Fentiman IS, Spittle M: Radiotherapy and tamoxifene in women with completely excised ductal carcinoma *in situ* of the breast in the UK, Australia, and New Zealand: randomized controlled trial. *Lancet* 362 95-102 (2003)
- 25. S Cummings, Eckert S, Krueger K, Grady D, Powles T, Cauley J: The effect of raloxifene on risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women: results from the MORE randomized trial. *JAMA* 281, 2189-2197 (1999)

- 26. J Geisler, King N, Dowsett M, Ottestad L, Lundgren S, Walton P, Kormeset PO, Lonning PE: Influence of anastrozole (Arimidex), a selective, non-steroidal aromatase inhibitor, on *in vivo* aromatisation and plasma oestrogen levels in postmenopausal women with breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* 74, 1286-1291 (1996)
- 27. M Dowsett, Jones A, Johnston SR, Jacobs S, Trunet P, Smith IE: *In vivo* measurement of aromatase inhibition by letrozole (CFS 20267) in postmenopausal patients with breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 1, 1511-1515 (1995)
- 28. J Geisler, Detre S, Berntsen H Ottestad L, LindtjornB,DowseetM, Einstein Lonning P: Influence of neoadjuvant anastrozole (Arimidex) on intratumoral estrogen levels and proliferation markers in patients with locally advanced breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 7, 1230-1236 (2001)
- 29. AS Bhatnagar, Brodie AM, Long BJ Evans DB, Miller WR: Intracellular aromatase and its relevance to the pharmacological efficacy of
- aromatase inhibitors. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 76, 199-202 (2001)
- 30. IE Smith, Fitzharris BM, McKinna IA, Fahmy DR, Nash AG,Neville AM, Gazet JC, Ford HT, Powles TJ: Aminoglutethimide in treatment of metastatic breast carcinoma. *Lancet* 2, 646-649 (1978)
- 31. AU Buzdar, Smith R, Vogel C, Bonomi P, Keller AM, Favis G, Mulagha M, Cooper J: Fadrozole HCL (CGS-16949A) versus megestrol acetate treatment of postmenopausal patients with metastatic breast carcinoma: Results of two randomized double blind): controlled multiinstitutional trials. *Cancer* 77, 2503-2513 (1996)
- 32. S Chen, Zhang F, Sherman M, Kijima I, Cho M, Yuan Y, Toma Y, Osawa Y, Zhou D, Eng E., Structure-function studies of aromatase and its inhibitors: a progress report. *J Steroid Biochem* 86, 231-237 (2003)
- 33. A Buzdar: Pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of the newer generation aromatase inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res* 9, 468S-472S (2003)
- 34. ATAC Trialists Group. Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifene versus tamoxifene alone for adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early breast cancer: first results of the ATAC randomized trial. *Lancet* 359, 2131-2139 (2002)
- 35. M Baum, Buzdar A, Cuzick J, Forbes J, Houghton J, Howell A,Sahmoud T: Anastrozole alone or in combination with tamoxifene versus tamoxifene alone for adjuvant treatment of postmenopausal women with early-stage breast cancer: results of the ATAC (Arimidex Tamoxifene Alone or in Combination) trial efficacy and safety update analyses. *Cancer* 98, 1802-1810 (2003)
- 36. ATAC Trialists' Group: Results of the ATAC (Arimidex, Tamoxifene, Alone or in Combination) Trial After Completion of 5 Years' Adjuvant Treatment for Breast Cancer. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* 60 (5), 307-309 (2005) 37. D Giudci, Ornati G, Briatico G: 6-Methylenandrosta-1, 4-diene-3, 17-dione (FCE 24304): A new irreversible aromatase inhibitor. *J Sterol Gibson Ls*, Appel 1394 (1988) 38. P. Complex Hell F. and Gibson Ls. Appel 2494 (1988)
- 38. R Coombe, Hall E, and Gibson L: A randomized trial of exemestane after two to three years of tamoxifene therapy in postmenopausal women with primary breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 350, 1081-1092 (2004)

- 39. P Goss, Strasser-Weippl K. Prevention strategies with aromatase inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res* 10: 3722S-379S (2004)
- 40. P Goss, Ingle J, Marino S, *et al*: A randomized trial of letrozole in postmenopausal women after five years of tamoxifene therapy for early stage breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 349, 1793-1802 (2003)
- 41. A Howell, Cuzick J: Vascular effects of aromatase inhibitors: Data from clinical trials. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 95(1-5), 143-149 (2005)
- 42. S.S. Perumal, Shanthi P, Sachdanandam P: Combined efficacy of tamoxifene and coenzyme Q_{10} on the status of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in DMBA induced breast cancer. *Mol Cell Bioche* 273, 151-160 (2005)
- 43. L Ernster, Beyer RE: Antioxidant functions of coenzyme Q: Some biochemical and pathophysiological implications. *Biomed Clin Aspects of Coq* 16, 45-58 (1991)
- 44. P Jolliet, Simon N: Plasma Co-enzyme Q₁₀ concentration in breast cancer: Prognosis and therapeutic consequence. *Int J Clin* Pharm Therapeut 36, 506-509 (1998)
- 45. UN Das: Cis-unsaturated fatty acids as potential antimutagenic, tumoricidal and anti-metastatic agents. *Asia Pacific J Pharmacol* 7,305-327 (1992)
- 46. MU Dianzani, Rossi MA: Lipid peroxidation in tumors. In: Recent Trends in Chemical Carcinogenesis. Eds: P. Pani, F. Feo, A. Columbano, E.S.A.Cagliari Press, Cagliari, Italy, (1991)
- 47. K Folkers, Shizukuishi S, Takemura K, Drzewoski J, Richardson P, Ellis J, Kuzell WC: Increase in levels of IgG in serum of patients treated with coenzyme Q10. *Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol* 38(2), 335-338 (1982)
- 48. G Kong, Kim HT, Wu K, DeNardo D, Hilsenbeck SG, Xu XC, Lamph WW, Bissonnette R, Dannenberg AJ, Brown PH: The retinoid X receptor-selective retinoid, LFD1069, down-regulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human breast cells through transcription factor crosstalk: implications for molecular-based chemoprevention. *Cancer Res* 65(8), 3462-3469 (2005)
- 49.A Decensi, Serrano D, Bonanni B, Cazzaniga M, Guerrieri-Gonzaga A: Breast Cancer Prevention Trials Using Retinoids. *J Mammary Gland Bio Neo* 8, 19-29 (2003)
- 50. V Shim, Sudilovsky D, Chew D: COX-2 expression is highly prevalent in *in situ* breast cancer lesions (DCIS). *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol* 21, 446a (2002)
- 51. A Ristimaki, Sivula A, Lundin J: Prognositc significance of elevated cyclooxygenase-2 expression in breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 62, 632-635 (2002)
- 52. CT Supuran, Casini A, Mastrolorenzo A: COX-2 selective inhibitors, carbonic anhydrase inhibition and anticancer properties of sulfonamides belonging to this class of pharmacological agents. *Mini Rev Med Chem* 4, 625-632 (2004)
- 53. MM Taketo: Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors in tumorigenesis (partI). *J Natl Cancer Inst* 90, 1529-1536 (1998)
- 54. JL Masferrer, Leahy KM, Koki AT: Antiangiogenic and antitumor activities of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors. *Cancer Res* 60, 1306-1311 (2000)
- 55. RE Harris, Chlebowski RT, Jackson RD: women's Health Initiative. Breast cancer and nonsteroidal anti-

- inflammatory drugs: Prospective results from the Women's Health Initiative. *Cancer Res* 6, 6096-6101 (2003)
- 56. MB Terry, Gammon MD, Zhang FF: Association of frequency and duration of aspirin use and hormone receptor status with breast cancer risk. *JAMA* 291, 2433-2440 (2004)
- 57. A Alshafie , Abou-Issa HM, Seibert K: Chemotherapeutic evaluation of celecoxib, a cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitor, in rat mammary tumor model. *Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res* 41,493 (2000)
- 58. S Lanza-Jacoby, Miller S, Flynn J: The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor, celecoxib, prevents the development of mammary tumors in Her-2/neu mice. *Cancer epidemiol Biomakers Prev* 12, 1486-1491 (2003)
- 59. J Carol. Fabian, Kimler Bruce F.: COX-2 inhibitors for breast cancer prevention: A current understanding. In: Cancer Prebention/Epidemiology. Eds: Michael C, Perry, Md.American Society of Clinical Oncology Press,139-144 (2005)
- 60. D Mukherjee , Nissen SE, Topol EJ: Risk of cardiovascular events associated with selective COX-2 inhibitors. *JAMA* 28, 954-959 (2001)
- 61. GA Fitzgerald: Coxibs and cardiovascular disease. *N Engl J Med* 351, 1709-1711 (2004)
- 62. M. Widschwendter, Mayr A.: Loss of retinoic acid receptor beta expression in breast cancer and morphologically normal adjacent tissue but not in the normal breast tissue distant from the cancer. *Cancer Res* 57, 4158-4161 (1997)
- 63. Institute of Medicine, Food and Nutrition Board: Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin C, Vitamin E, Selenium, and Carotenoids. In: Panel on Dietary Antioxidants and Related Compounds. Eds: Fudge S, Black N, *National Academy Press*, Washington, DC (2000)
- 64. A. Theriault, Chao J. T., Wang Q., Gapor A, Adeli K: Tocotrienol: A review of its therapeutic potential. *Clin Biochem* 32, 309-319 (1999)
- 65. D.C. Schwenke: Does lack of tocopherols and tocotrienols put women at increased risk of breast cancer? *J. Nut. Biochem* 13, 2-20 (2002)
- 66. K Kline, Lawson K.A., Yu WP, Sanders B.G.: Vitamin E and Breast Cancer Prevention: Current Status and Future Potential. *J Mammary Gland Bio Neo* 8(1), 91-102 (2003)
- 67. K. Kline, Yu W, and B. G. Sanders B. G.: Vitamin E: Mechanisms of action as tumor cell growth inhibitors. *J Nutr* 131,161-163 (2001)
- 68. J. Neuzil, Weber T, Schroder A, Lu M, Ostermann G, Gellert N: Induction of cancer cell apoptosis by a tocopheryl succinate: Molecular pathways and structural requirements. *FASEB J.* 15,403-415 (2001)
- 69. K.T. Barnett, Fokum F.D, Malafa M. P.: Vitamin E succinate inhibits colon cancer liver metastases. *J. Surg. Res* . 106, 292-298 (2002)
- 70. H Adlercreutz, Mazur W, Stumpf K, Kilkkinen A, Pietinen P, Hulten K, Hallmans G: Food containing phytoestrogens, and breast cancer. *Biofactors* 12, 89-93 (2000)
- 71. TB Clarkson: Soy, soy phytoestrogens and cardiovascular disease. *J. Nutr.*, 132: 566S-569S (2002)
- 72. S Rachel, Rosenberg Zand, Jenkins David J.A, Diamandis Eleftherios P: Steroid hormone activity of flavonoids and related compounds. *Breast Cancer Res*, *Treat* 62, 35-49 (2000)

- 73. A Cassidy, Binham S Setchell KD: Biological effects of a diet of soy protein rich in isoflavones on the menstrual cycle of premenopausal women. *Am J Clin Nutr* 60,333-340 (1994)
- 74. M Noroozi, Angerson WJ, Lean ME: Effects of flavonoids and vitamin C on oxidative DNA damage to human lymphocytes. Am *J Clin Nutr* 67, 1210-1218 (1998)
- 75. T Kuzumaki, Kobayashi T, Ishikawa K: Genistein induces p21 (Cipl/WAFl) expression and blocks the Gl to S phase transition in mouse fibroblast and melanoma cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 251, 291-295 (1998)
- 76. J Hempstock, Kavanagh JP, George NJ: Growth inhibition of prostate cell lines *in vitro* by phytooestrogens. *Br J Rrol* 82, 560-563 (1998)
- 77. L Fioravanti, Cappelletti V, Miodini P, Ronchi E, Brivio M, Di Fronzo G: Genistein in the control of breast cancer cell growth: insights into the mechanism of action *in vitro*. *Cancer Lett* 130,143-152 (1998)
- 78. S Heinonen, Wahala K, Adlercreutz H: Metabolism of isoflavones in human subjects. *Phytochem Rev* 1, 175-182 (2002)
- 79. Hiroyuki Nakagawa, Yamamoto D, Kiyozuka Y, Tsuta K, Uemura K, Hioki K, Tsutsuin Y, Tsubura A: Effects of genistein and synergistic action in combination with elicosapentaenoic acid on the growth of breast cancer cell lines. *J Cancer Res, Clin Oncol* 126(8), 448-454 (2000)
- 80. M.P. Malafa, Fokum F.D., Mowlavi A., Abusief M, King M: Vitamin E inhibits melanoma growth in mice. *Srugery* 131, 85-91 (2002)
- 81. JK Lin, Liang YC: Cancer chemoprevention by tea polyphenols. *Proc Natl Sci Counc ROC* 24, 1-13 (2000)
- 82. S Pianetti, Guo S, Kavanagh KT, Sonenshein GE: Green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3 gallate inhibits her-2/neu signaling, proliferation, and transformed phenotype of breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 62, 652-655 (2002)
- 83.YC Liang, Chen YC, Lin YL, Lin-Shiau SY, Ho CT, Lin JK. Suppression of extracellular signals and cell proliferation by the black tea polyphenol, theaflavin-3, 3'-digallate. *Carcinogenesis* 20, 733-736 (1999)
- 84. J Halder, Bhaduri AN: Protective role of black tea against oxidative damage of human red blood cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 244, 903-907 (1998)
- 85. T Way, Lee HH, Kao MC, Lin JK: Black tea polyphenol theaflavins inhibit aromatase activity and attenuate tamoxifene resistance in HER2/neu-transfected human breast cancer cells through tyrosine kinase suppression. *Eur J Cancer* 40, 2165-2174 (2004)
- 86. A Mark. Moyad, M.D., M.P.H.: Why a statin and/or another proven heart healthy agent should be utilized in the next major cancer chemoprevention trial: part I. *Urologic Onc* 22, 466-471 (2004)

Abbreviation: SERMs: selective estrogen receptor modulators; AIs: aromatase inhibitors; ER: estrogen receptor; NSABP: National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project; BCPT: Breast Cancer Prevention Trial; FDA: Food and Drug Administration; DCIS: ductal carcinoma *in situ;* UKCCCR: UK Coordinating Committee on Cancer Research; STAR: study of tamoxifene and raloxifene; MORE: Mutilple Outcomes of Raloxifene

Evaluation; IBIS: International Breast Cancer Intervention Study; ATAC: Arimidex, Tamoxifene, Alone or in Combination; CoQ_{10} : coenzyme Q_{10} ; COX-2: cyclooxygenase-2; NSAIDS: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; GI: gastrointestinal

Key Words Breast Cancer, Chemoprevention, SERMs, AIs, Retinoids, COX-2 inhibitors, Isoflavones, Review

Send correspond to: Dr Xinhan Zhao, Oncology Dept. of the 1st Hospital affiliated to Xi'an Jiaotong University, No.1 Jiankang Rd. Xi'an, China 710061, Tel: 86-029-85324136, Fax:+86-029-82655472, E-mail: zhaoxinhan@csco.org.cn

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol11.htm